
SERVICE DELIVERY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 18 November 2020

Time: 7.00 pm

Venue: Virtual Meeting

10 November 2020

PART 1
1. Apologies. 

2. Notification of Substitute Members, if any. 

3. To approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting. (Pages 3 - 10)

4. Urgent Items of Business, if any. (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman). 

5. Declaration of Interests:- 
 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
 Other Interests

6. Questions to Portfolio Holders, if any. 
(At least two clear days notice required, in writing, to the Proper Officer in 

accordance with Procedure Rule 15).
7. Alliance Environmental Services Annual Performance Report & Presentation (To 

Follow)

8. Call-in of the Cabinet Report - Cheadle Town Centre Projects (Pages 11 - 28)

9. Work Programme (Pages 29 - 30)
Any additional items to be added to the Work Programme:

 Chair’s Items
 Members’ Items

10. Exclusion of the Press and Public. 
The Chair to move:-

 “That pursuant to Section 100A (2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that exempt information 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 
scanning the code below:

Public Document Pack



as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public in breach 
of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 100I (1) 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the 
paragraphs indicated.”

11. To Approve the Exempt Minutes of the Previous Meeting. (Pages 31 - 32)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & MONITORING OFFICER

Membership of Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel
Councillor R Ward (Chair) Councillor I Herdman (Vice-Chair)
Councillor J Aberley Councillor G Bentley
Councillor C Brady Councillor J Davies
Councillor B Emery Councillor K Flunder
Councillor A Hart Councillor N Hawkins
Councillor K Hoptroff Councillor L Page
Councillor H Plimley Councillor D Price
Councillor J Redfern Councillor P Roberts
Councillor J Salt Councillor H Sheldon MBE
Councillor I Whitehouse



1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

SERVICE DELIVERY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
PANEL MEETING

Minutes

WEDNESDAY, 16 SEPTEMBER 2020
PRESENT: Councillor R Ward (Chair) 

Councillors G Bentley, C Brady, J Davies, B Emery, K Flunder, 
A Hart, N Hawkins, I Herdman, L Page, H Plimley, D Price, 
J Redfern, P Roberts, J Salt, H Sheldon MBE and I Whitehouse

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor N Yates, C J S Atkins, M A Deaville, E Fallows, 
M Gledhill, K J Jackson, I Lawson, L A Malyon, I Plant, J Porter, 
S E Ralphs MBE, P Routledge, S Scalise and E Wain

APOLOGIES: Councillors J Aberley and K Hoptroff

9 NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS, IF ANY.

Councillor Yates substituted for Councillor Hoptroff. 

10 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING.

At this point of the meeting, Cllr Brady advised the Panel that he had not received 
the response to his supplementary question in relation to Parkwood Leisure raised at 
the previous meeting. Councillor Deaville confirmed that he would look into this and 
ensure a written response was provided to Councillor Brady.

DECIDED – That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Panel held on 22 July  
November 2020 be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair.

11 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS, IF ANY. (24 HOURS NOTICE TO BE 
PROVIDED TO THE CHAIRMAN).

There were no urgent items.

12 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS:-

Agenda Item Member Declaring 
Interest Nature of Interest

Agenda Item 7 – Covid-
19 Pandemic - 

Reinstatement of 
Services and Economic 

Recovery.

Cllrs. Flunder, Deaville 
and Price

Other – Had received a 
Small Business Grant.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 16 September 2020

2

13 QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS, IF ANY.

Q1. Question Received from Councillor Malyon

“Could I ask if the person who told officers to do this (creation of a Council Member 
Permit Holder parking space) will be asked to compensate the Council the costs of 
this work, and apologise to the Leader, Council and the people of Staffordshire 
Moorlands for the embarrassment caused.”

Councillor Wain apologised, the parking space had been removed and he confirmed 
that he would repay the costs after he had received a detailed breakdown. The 
Portfolio Holder wished to point out that he had assisted the Council as far as 
possible and had rarely claimed expenses over the past 30 years.  

Q2. Question received from Cllr Price

 “Could the Council please be informed of the costs of both the painting and 
subsequent removal - after only a few days - of the ‘Council Member Permit Holder 
Only’ parking space in Silk Street carpark in Leek?”

The Portfolio Holder explained that the costs associated with the parking space were 
£545 plus VAT. He had requested a full breakdown of the cost.

Councillor Price thanked Councillor Wain for his response and commented further on 
the culture of the Council and the decision making process.

Q3. Question received from Cllr Page 

“Can the Service Delivery O&S Panel be provided with a full detailed register of all 
SMDC assets? To include all property including, but not limited to, bus shelters, 
street lighting, benches, signage, parks etc. In addition all maintenance records for 
the last five years and for the next 2 years should be provided.”

Response:
The Council’s Asset Register is kept by the Finance Team is a matter of record and 
can be provided to the panel. The Council’s spend on Repair and Maintenance 
across the assets is published yearly in the accounts and budgets are set in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan. Compiling records of minor spend as well as other 
records such as emails authorising works, invoices and other records would amount 
to weeks of work for multiple officers depending on the level of detail required.  If 
members of the panel have a specific question or requirement regarding an asset, 
officers will deal with it appropriately. 

By way of supplementary question, Councillor Page asked how he could request a 
copy of the Asset Register and should an asset require attention who should he 
inform.  Councillor Wain replied and suggested he contacted Katy Webster – Head 
of Assets, Sarah Porru – Head of Regeneration or the Democratic Services Team.

Q4. Question received from Cllr Salt 

“When will Biddulph receive and how much will Biddulph Town Council be awarded 
for its Artisan market for this financial year 2020-2021?”

Page 4



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 16 September 2020

3

Response: A payment of £2k will be made to Biddulph Town Council w/c 14th 
September 2020. 

Councillor Salt wished to ascertain how the grant for Biddulph compared to Leek and 
Cheadle and the basis the grants were calculated. This information would be 
provided after the meeting.

14 COVID-19 PANDEMIC - REINSTATEMENT OF SERVICES AND ECONOMIC 
RECOVERY.

Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental Health and Sarah Porru – Head of 
Regeneration, introduced a report which identified the impact of COVID-19 on 
service delivery and noted the plans that were being put in place for recovery.

Whilst some elements of the COVID-19 response continued to be ongoing, a 
recovery response had been initiated so services would be ready as lockdown 
restrictions began to be eased. Work therefore commenced in the planning of the 
Council’s recovery in late April. 

The proposed response had been categorised into five work streams. These work 
streams were:  

 Reinstatement of services;
 Economic recovery;
 Community recovery;
 Financial recovery; and 
 Advantages of the positive legacy.

The purpose of the report was to consider the recovery process as it had developed 
so far, for the following work streams relative to this Panels area of activity:

 Reinstatement of Services,
 Economic Recovery,

The report set out the recovery work that had been undertaken to date and the 
planned work going forward. The Panel was encouraged to highlight any areas that 
required further consideration.

Members thanked the Officers for the comprehensive report and raised the following 
questions/queries:-

Availability of face- to- face service at Receptions -  For safety to be ensured, 
Receptions remained closed to members of the public. Customer Advisors triaged 
enquiries and in special circumstances could arrange one to one appointments. It 
was the responsibility of Biddulph Town Council to decide as to whether to open the 
Town Hall building to the public.

Forum for town centre recovery arrangements:- The composition of this forum was 
queried, as some members thought that the representatives should have been 
selected by the Town Councils.

Additional support and guidance for community venues & events – The Council was 
working with community type businesses. All event organisers had been offered Page 5



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 16 September 2020

4

support to ensure events were Covid-19 safe, that Track and Trace was in place and 
events would be closely monitored. The guidance on the Council’s website was due 
to be updated and would include clear guidelines for events.

Small Business Grants – The criteria for the grants was clarified and it was 
confirmed that the Council had done as much as possible to ensure all eligible 
businesses had been contacted and supported. The deadline for applications would 
be checked after the meeting.

Future High Street Fund and loss of income due to free car parking in August – 
Unfortunately, the application for the Future High Street Fund in Cheadle had been 
unsuccessful. However, the Council had been invited to take part in a Task Force 
Project. This had been postponed, and upon commencement of the project, Cheadle 
Town Council would be notified. The data relating to the free car parking in August 
was currently being analysed, and once completed, this information would be 
circulated to the Panel. 

Outbreak Control Board – Councillor Deaville emphasised the importance of issues 
being reported and two-way communication. He gave assurance that the Director of 
Public Health at Staffordshire County Council acted immediately to 
intelligence/concerns. Members were thanked for their diligence and the 
Environmental Health Team for its swift response to any matters of concern.

Parking Review –  The Car Parking Strategy was part of the Corporate Plan and it 
was anticipated that consultation would take place with town councils, economic 
groups and other stakeholders this Autumn. Councillor Ralphs clarified the make up 
of the Forum which primarily focussed on free car parking in August, two meetings 
had taken place and a final meeting to conclude would be held on 18th September 
2020. 

Covid-19 Test Centres – Councillor Deaville advised that the situation in the 
Moorlands was much better than currently reported nationally on the news. After the 
meeting, he would send details of a County Council App to order a test on-line, the 
location of the testing centres and any relevant testing data. Testing had taken place 
locally and positive feedback had been received. Councillor Atkins informed the 
Panel that Staffordshire County Council had commissioned laboratory work to be 
undertaken at the University Hospitals of North Midlands. 

Registration of new food business – The Head of Environmental Health explained 
that in the region of 40 new food businesses had been created since ‘lockdown’ and 
each of these had received a telephone call to offer advice and support. She would 
look into additional publicity to the raise the profile of the star rating scheme. 

A member also expressed their concern in relation to paragraph 8.28 of the report as 
it was thought that there were some significant implications in the way in which the 
Council would operate its planning functions. There was also some disappointment 
around the climate change element of the report, and it was requested this was 
revisited.

Page 6



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 16 September 2020

5

DECIDED:

The Panel:-
1) NOTE the details of the Council’s recovery to the COVID-19 pandemic as 

outlined in the report;

2) SUPPORT the proposed recovery plans outlined in the report;

3) IDENTIFIED areas of activity which required further consideration.

15 PLANNING WHITE PAPER

Councillor Wain – Portfolio Holder – Planning, Development and Property and Ben 
Haywood – Head of Development Services, introduced a report which appraised 
Members of: 

a. recent changes to the planning system enacted in the Business and 
Planning Act 2020 

b. proposed changes to the current Planning System as set out in the 
Government Consultation Document Published 6 August 2020

c. proposed changes as set out in the White Paper “Planning for the 
Future” which was published for consultation by Government on 6th 
August 2020

The Panel was also asked to consider the Council’s response to the consultations 
and key issues and concerns were highlighted. Due to the level of information to be 
considered, it was suggested that a seminar was convened for all members to be 
invited to attend.

The Business and Planning Bill received Royal Assent on 22 July 2020. It introduced 
a series of changes to planning legislation intended to help businesses, particularly 
in the hard-hit hospitality and construction sectors, to get back to work safely and 
quickly. The key changes and implication were detailed in the report.

The consultation also set out proposals for measures to improve the effectiveness of 
the current planning system. The 4 main proposals included:

 changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need
 for First Homes to be secured through developer contributions in the short 

term until the transition to a new system
 support for small and medium-sized builders by temporarily lifting the 

small sites threshold below which developers do not need to contribute to 
affordable housing

 extension of the current Permission in Principle to major development

The proposed changes to the current planning system would update the standard 
methodology in the assessment of housing requirements and the White Paper, titled 
“Planning for the Future”, set out a series of high-level reforms to streamline and 
modernise the planning process. Key changes were summarised in the report.

The Chair thanked all officers involved with the preparation of this report and 
members made the following comments:-Page 7



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 16 September 2020

6

 It was hoped that a number of the proposals would not be included in the final 
policy;

 Issues had been identified well in the report;
 This was an enormous change and would take a long time to establish;
 Small local authorities may not have the skill sets around ‘beautiful’ design 

and sustainable places which could lead to a number of issues;
 Concern in relation to paragraph 5.7 - Demolition and Rebuilding for 

Residential, particularly in the Biddulph area and extension of the opening of 
holiday parks;

 Major concern around permitted development rights and loss of local input in 
regard to planning applications;

 In some cases, some of the proposals were a backward step;
 Agreed there was a requirement for member training;
 Very little time to make comments;
 For the Council’s response to include a section on the protection of nature, 

climate resilience and more emphasis on living alongside nature.

A member of the Panel requested that the data from the most recent housing need 
survey be provided by ward as she was very concerned about the figure being set 
nationally. Mark James – Principal Planning Officer, explained that housing need 
surveys were specific to parishes and related to affordable housing need in the short 
term. The Council did have a Strategic Housing Market Assessment which set out 
housing needs for the Local Plan, based on the Government’s previous 
methodology. For the Staffordshire Moorlands this was 320 homes per year.  
However, if the proposals within the white paper were agreed, the figure for the 
number homes in the future would be set nationally. 

Ben Haywood – Head of Development Services, gave assurance around the 
permitted development rights as these would still be subjected to a prior approval 
process. The Council would have control over the appearance and residential 
amenity of a development and additional protections such as listed buildings would 
remain in place.

To separate seminars would be arranged for members. The first would be arranged 
as soon as possible, and the second towards the end of October to consider the 
white paper.

DECIDED:

That the Panel NOTE the report and RECOMMEND delegated authority to the 
Executive Director (Place) to prepare a final response to both consultations 
based on the attached summary tables, incorporating any comments of the 
Service Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel  and Cabinet and to submit 
them to Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government before the 
end of the consultation periods.

16 WORK PROGRAMME

The Panel considered its Work Programme and agreed the items listed, subject to, 
the number of fly-tips and prosecutions be incorporated in the AES Annual 
Performance Update. Page 8



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 16 September 2020

7

DECIDED: That the Work Programme for 2012-21 be agreed.

17 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC.

At this point in the meeting discussion took place around the agenda item relating to 
the call-in of the Cabinet decision to dispose of Plot 12-15 Victoria business Park 
being considered in exempt session.

A vote was taken, and it was decided by the Panel, that the press and public should 
be excluded from the meeting and the report be dealt with confidentially.

18 CALL-IN OF THE CABINET DECISION IN RELATION TO THE DISPOSAL 
OF PLOT 12-15 VICTORIA BUSINESS PARK

The Panel gave its consideration to a call-in report on the Cabinet decision in 
relation to the disposal of Plot 12-15 Victoria Business Park.

The meeting closed at 9.30 pm

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel

18 November 2020

TITLE: Call-in of the Cabinet Report - Cheadle Town 
Centre Projects

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER: Sally Hampton - Member and Community 
Services Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: Cheadle West

Appendices Attached – 
Appendix A – Cabinet Report 6th October 2020
Appendix B – Cheadle Town Centre Projects Governance Structure
Appendix C – Call-in Procedure

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider the call-in request of the Cabinet decision in relation to Cheadle 
Town Centre Projects.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the call-in request be considered in accordance with the Council’s Call-in 
Procedure (Appendix C).

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Cabinet members have considered a report which outlined proposals for the 
establishment of a Cheadle Town Centre Delivery Board, supported by a 
Stakeholder Panel, to oversee development and delivery of town centre 
projects including options appraisal for the emerging Cheadle town centre 
Masterplan and the High Streets Task Force programme of activity. The report 
also provided an update on progress with regards to the Cheadle Town Centre 
Options Appraisal Report and the High Streets Task Force and sought to 
agree next steps.

3.2 The decision made was: -

1. That the proposals for the establishment of a Cheadle Town Centre 
Delivery Board and Stakeholder Panel, as set out in the report be 
approved.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



2. That the progress on current Cheadle town centre projects be noted.

3.3 Following this decision, call-in requests have been received from Councillors: - 
L. Malyon,  P. Wilkinson, K.  Martin, I. Whitehouse, I. Plant and G. Bentley.

3.4 The call-in request confirmed the following principles of decision making
which they believed had not been adhered to:

 taking due regard of all relevant considerations and disregarding 
irrelevant considerations; 

 proportionality (i.e. the action will be proportionate to the desired 
outcome); 

 respect for human rights and equalities; 
 a presumption in favour of openness; and 
 clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 

3.5 Councillors have provided the statement below:-

“We would like to call in the report that went to Cabinet on 6th October 2020, 
Cheadle Town Centre Projects, as we believe that all relevant considerations 
i.e. health and well-being of the town and it’s facilities will be compromised, it 
will not be proportionate for the outcome for Cheadle, in respect of the human 
rights of the people of Cheadle and surrounding areas that use Cheadle and 
it’s facilities i.e. the hospital and leisure centre, lack of openness with the 
people of Cheadle and the surrounding areas and lack of clarity as to where 
people will park when the car parks are built on.  This needs full consultation 
with the whole of the District Council, Cheadle Town Council and the people of 
the Staffordshire Moorlands. This will have an adverse effect on Cheadle 
Town as a whole, not even considering demolishing the hospital or the leisure 
centre.”

3.6 The Panel is asked to consider the call-in request, in accordance with the 
Council’s call-in procedure (Appendix C).
  

Neil Rodgers
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Cabinet report attached Sally Hampton
Member and Community Services Officer
sally.hampton@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 12



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet

6 October 2020

TITLE: Cheadle Town Centre Projects

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Ralphs - Council Leader SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER: Sarah Porru- Head of Regeneration

WARDS INVOLVED: Cheadle West

Appendices Attached – Governance structure

1. Reason for the Report

1.1. To outline proposals for the establishment of a Cheadle Town Centre Delivery 
Board, supported by a Stakeholder Panel, to oversee development and delivery 
of town centre projects including options appraisal for the emerging Cheadle 
town centre Masterplan and the High Streets Task Force programme of activity.

1.2. To provide an update on progress with regards to the Cheadle Town Centre 
Options Appraisal Report and the High Streets Task Force and to agree next 
steps.

2. Recommendation

2.1 To approve the proposals for establishment of a Cheadle Town Centre Delivery 
Board and Stakeholder Panel, as set out in the report.

2.2 To note the progress on current Cheadle town centre projects.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 A number of externally funded projects are proposed for Cheadle town centre 
during the next financial year.  It is recommended that the Council establishes 
a Cheadle Town Centre Project Delivery Board, supported by a Stakeholder 
Panel, to oversee coordination of the work and the effective delivery of individual 
project work programmes.

3.2 The proposed governance structure is set out as Appendix 1 to this report.

Page 13



3.3 The projects to be overseen by any Project Delivery Board and Panel would 
include, but not be limited to:

 consideration of the options set out in the Cheadle town centre report;
 oversight of any wider engagement proposed with appropriate stakeholders 

as part of the ongoing options appraisal;
 recommending preferred options for key sites in Cheadle town centre;
 coordinating delivery of agreed proposals for key sites in Cheadle town 

centre;
 directing the activities of the Future High Street Fund Task Force and any 

follow up work.

3.3 Membership of the Stakeholder Panel would be drawn from local elected 
members of the District Council, Cheadle Town Council, the Chamber of 
Commerce, a business representative and the voluntary sector.

3.4 Membership of the Project Delivery Board would include the Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council, Staffordshire County Council, the North 
Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and the Chair of the Stakeholder 
Panel.

3.5 This governance structure will ensure that the Delivery Board remains focused 
on the delivery of town centre projects.  The Stakeholder Panel will ensure that 
the Board has access to the views and resources of stakeholder groups, the 
Chair of the Panel being part of the Board to ensure that this is achieved.  The 
Board will make recommendations to Cabinet with regard to the direction and 
management of town centre projects, with the Cabinet retaining control of 
decision making within the Council’s Assurance structure.

Cheadle town centre Options Appraisal Report

3.6 Consultants Cushman and Wakefield have prepared an Options Appraisal 
report to support a masterplan and investment strategy for Cheadle town centre.  
The report sets out opportunities to increase the vibrancy of Cheadle by 
delivering new homes as well as community facilities that will help to attract and 
retain additional residents and visitors to the town centre.  

3.7 The Options Appraisal report proposes a number of options for key sites in the 
town, including Well Street and Tape Street car parks, the Community Hospital 
and Newlands Care Home on Royal Walk and South Moorlands Leisure Centre.  
The report makes recommendations on using the key sites, all in public sector 
ownership, as a basis for the re-configuration of Cheadle town centre to help 
the town become an even more attractive and compelling place to live, work 
and visit.

3.8 The report includes recommendations for the location of a new community hub 
building in the town centre.  Decisions on the future of Cheadle Hospital and the 
South Moorlands Leisure Centre may provide opportunities to offer replacement 
health, well-being, leisure and other community facilities from a single location.  
The report recommends that the preferred location for any community hub 

Page 14



should be at Tape Street car park, bringing additional footfall directly into the 
town centre.

3.9 In the medium and long term it may be possible to bring forward residential 
development at Royal Walk and the site of the existing Leisure Centre, subject 
to decisions on the future of the existing buildings on these sites.  In the short 
term, residential development may be brought forward at Well Street car park, 
potentially in conjunction with proposals from Your Housing Group for the site 
of the former Lightwood care home.

3.10 Should all or parts of both Tape Street and Well Street car parks be 
redeveloped, it will be important to ensure that a review of parking in Cheadle 
is undertaken to ensure that adequate parking provision remains for the town. 

High Streets Task Force

3.11 In December 2019 Cheadle town centre was named as one of the first pilot 
towns to receive expert advice and support from the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) High Streets Task Force.  The 
support is designed to help build local capacity with a view to reviving Cheadle 
High Street.

3.12 The first step in the Task Force pilot project is an ‘Unlocking your place potential’ 
diagnostic visit.  The visit will include a meeting with key stakeholders to 
examine plans, identify challenges and provide feedback on the Council’s 
original application to the Future High Street Fund.  The visit will also include a 
site tour with a High Streets Task Force expert who will undertake a snapshot 
analysis of Cheadle town centre.

3.13 The Council will receive a formal report of the visit with recommendations for a 
strategy considered to be effective for “unlocking your place potential”.  
Recommendations of the report are also expected to assist the Council submit 
an expression of interest for later rounds of the Future High Street Fund.  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The Cheadle Town Centre Delivery Board with support from the Stakeholder 
Panel, through the projects to be delivered, will have implications for the 
following aims of the Corporate Plan: 

 Aim One – To help create a safer and healthier environment for our 
communities to live and work.

 Aim Three – To help create a strong economy by supporting further 
regeneration of towns and villages.

5. Alternative Options

Page 15



5.1 Option 1 (recommended) – that the Council approves the proposals for 
establishment of a Cheadle Town Centre Delivery Board and Stakeholder Panel 
and notes the progress on Cheadle town centre projects.

5.2 Option 2 (not recommended) – that the Council does not approve the proposals 
for establishment of a Cheadle Town Centre Board, to be supported by a Panel 
of Stakeholders.  This is not recommended.  There is potential for significant 
change in Cheadle arising from the implementation of proposals in the emerging 
Masterplan and recommendations from the High Street Task Force.  Effective 
partnership working will be required to deliver this change.  Without a Board of 
partners to help direct and coordinate activities, there is a risk that the views and 
resources of some stakeholders may be lost to the process and the Council will 
not be in a position to capitalise on opportunities for added value from the work 
of a range of partners.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

No implications.

6.2 Workforce

Officer time will be required to service a Cheadle Town Centre 
Delivery Board and Panel of Stakeholders.  This time will be drawn 
from existing resources.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

The report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations

Work undertaken under the direction of the Board would be grant 
funded or assisted by contributions from the partners.

6.5 Legal

Legal advice will be sought as appropriate to inform the work of the 
Delivery Board.

6.6 Climate Change

The delivery of new facilities to replace ageing buildings will have a 
poitive effect on reducing carbon emissions.

Page 16



6.7 Consultation

The Board will be responsible for engaging with the Stakeholder 
Panel in developing town centre projects who in turn will be 
responsible for engaging the wider communities they represent.
The chair of the Stakeholder Panel will sit on the Delivery Board 
and be responsible for representing the views of the Stakeholder 
Panel to the Delivery Board. 

6.8 Risk Assessment

Risks have been addressed in the body of the report.

Neil Rodgers
Executive Director (Place) 

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

**INSERT NAME OF ANY PAPERS AND  WEB LINKS” Joanna Bagnall, Sarah Porru
Senior Regeneration Officer, Head of 
Regeneration
joanna.bagnall@highpeak.gov.uk, 
sarah.porru@highpeak.gov.uk

7. Detail

7.1 The proposed Cheadle Town Centre Projects Delivery Board, and supporting 
Stakeholder Panel, will be made up of representatives from partner 
organisations and local groups.  The purpose is to oversee the development 
and delivery of projects including the emerging Cheadle town centre Masterplan 
and the FHSF Task Force pilot.  The Board and Panel will also consider other 
projects as appropriate, such as the submission of a Future High Street Fund 
bid (should a second round be called).

7.2 The Board and Panel will ensure that the implementation of proposals is in 
accordance with the aims of the Staffordshire Moorlands Growth Strategy.

7.3 The proposed governance structure is set out as Appendix 1 to this report.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

7.4 The Board and Panel will: 

1. Play a strategic role in the formulation of joint goals for Cheadle.
2. Receive reports from partner organisations concerning the delivery of 

projects in line with joint goals. 
3. Be responsible for considering the recommendations set out in the 

Cheadle Masterplan options appraisal report, and for recommending 
preferred options.

6.4

Page 17



4. Develop a programme for delivering the agreed Cheadle Masterplan 
proposals, supported by an application to the One Public Estate 
programme as required.

5. Oversee the development of a bid for the 2020/21 funding round of the 
Future High Street Fund if appropriate.

6. Coordinate the resources required to deliver a town centre development 
programme.

7. Establish a means of engaging and communicating with the local 
community and other stakeholders.

8. Regularly review the delivery of the Cheadle Town Centre Projects.

Cheadle town centre options appraisal report

7.5 The District Council, working in partnership with Staffordshire County Council, 
commissioned consultants Cushman and Wakefield to prepare options for a 
masterplan and investment strategy for Cheadle town centre.  The emerging 
masterplan is intended to support regeneration of the town centre by identifying 
opportunities to increase town centre living and the vitality of the High Street.  

7.6 In August 2019 the consultants met with Cheadle Town Council to listen to ideas 
for the town centre that would reflect the ambitions of the Town Council and its 
residents.

7.7 In January 2020 Cushman and Wakefield met with the three GP practices in 
Cheadle and the North Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  
There was an acknowledgement that planned housing growth in the town will 
have implications for demand on their services and that additional facilities may 
be required.  There was a cautious interest expressed by the practices in 
participating in the provision of a new town centre community health and well-
being hub.

7.8 In preparing the Masterplan options, Cushman and Wakefield have been 
mindful of the fact that given the relatively low residential values in Cheadle, 
delivering new homes is fairly marginal in viability terms.  This is a key issue 
that has restricted the development of a healthy housing market for some time 
and is evidenced by the lack of new housing development in Cheadle over 
recent years.  Adoption of the SMDC Local Plan will help to address these 
issues.

7.9 The options appraisal for the town centre looks in detail at land in public sector 
ownership, where public authorities have most ability to facilitate change.  The 
sites are:
 Tape Street car park
 Well Steet car park and Lightwood site
 Royal Walk (Community Hospital and Newlands Care Home)
 South Moorlands Leisure Centre
 Depot off Leek Road (Stoddards – site allocation in the SMDC Local Pan)
 Market Place

Page 18



7.10 A number of options have been explored for each of these sites.  Those options 
considered suitable for shortlisting and viability appraisal are summarised 
below:

7.11 Tape Street car park

 Option D: Delivery of a new Leisure Centre (3200 m²) and a Health hub 
(1520 m²), along with parking, public realm improvements and small 
residential development.  

 Option G: Delivery of a new Leisure Centre (3500 m²) and a Health hub 
(1700m²), along with parking, public realm improvements and small 
residential development. Town centre car parking is moved slightly north to 
facilitate a new access road onto the site. 

 Option H: ‘Big Bang’ option – Demolition of all units on and adjacent to the 
north of the car park enabling delivery of a consolidated community health 
hub and Leisure Centre scheme fronting onto the High Street, with public 
realm improvements including creation of a “pocket park”, small residential 
development and public car parking.  

7.12 Royal Walk

 Option A: Demolition of existing hospital and Newlands Care Home and 
replacement with new build residential development.

 Option B: Retention and conversion of the existing hospital site as an extra 
care facility.  Demolition of the former Newlands Care Home site and 
development of new build residential.

 Option C: Demolition of all buildings on the site and delivery of a new 
Leisure Centre on the hospital site, with outdoor sports facilities provided at 
the Newlands Care Home.

 Option for a dementia village: No scheme designs have been prepared or 
costed for this option.  The nature of such a scheme would require 
provision of high quality residential accommodation with extensive 
additional services.  The scheme would need to be funded by a relatively 
high service charge which is unlikely to be funded by the CCG.  Relatively 
low residential values would impact on the viability of delivering a dementia 
village meaning that attracting a private sector developer would be difficult - 
unless the CCG were to commission and fund such services.

7.13 Well Street and Lightwood site

 Option A: Conversion of the existing car park to residential as a separate 
scheme from the development plans at the Lightwood Site.  

 Option B: Conversion of the existing car park to residential as a joint scheme 
with the development plans already existing for the Lightwood site.  

7.14 South Moorlands Leisure Centre

 Option A: Existing leisure centre to be demolished and developed as 
residential development.  Residential scheme developed in a more 
aesthetic, lower density design (42 units).  

Page 19



 Option B: Existing leisure centre to be demolished and developed as 
residential development.  Residential scheme developed to include 
maximum residential capacity (46 units).  

 Option C: Existing leisure centre to be demolished and a leisure and 
wellness centre to be developed on the site.  

7.15 Depot off Leek Road

 Option A: Conversion of the site to residential space, with the retention of 
one of the existing on-site buildings (12 units).  

 Option B: Conversion of the entire site to residential space, demolition of all 
existing buildings that are on site (9 “premium” units).  

7.16 Market Place

Various proposals to improve the site, including replacing tarmac surface with 
natural stone flags; providing a central feature potentially incorporating seating; 
painting/lighting the north-east wall; and reconfiguring the steps to integrate a 
new ramp.  

7.17 Following viability modelling of each of these options, taking into account the 
value of the completed scheme and allowing for a developer profit, the following 
conclusions were drawn about the proposals for residential development:

 The parcel of land owned by SMDC at the southern end of Tape Street 
car park (east of the Police Station) can be viably developed for a small 
scheme of five homes.

 The best performing option for the Royal Walk site is Option A, potentially 
delivering 42 new homes across the hospital and Newlands Care Home 
sites.  However due to the demolition costs and relatively low residential 
values achievable, the NHS and County Council are likely to receive only 
very modest capital receipts for site disposal.

 Both Options A and B for Well Street / Lightwood are viable.  Option B 
has cost savings due to a more efficient road layout and this option also 
maximises development.  The schemes could be delivered as phases 1 
and 2, enabling the Council to sell Well Street car park to a third party 
(Option A) but it would be more prudent to financially incentivise the 
Lightwood site owner to deliver a comprehensive scheme (Option B).

 Both options A and B for South Moorlands Leisure Centre are viable.  
Option B is the better performing option as there is more value (higher 
development density) and lower cost (less road infrastructure).

 Option A is the more viable scheme for the depot off Leek Road.  It 
carries a lower demolition cost and would provide a reasonable profit for 
both developer and landowner.

7.18 The Options Appraisal has provided the above guidance relating to 
opportunities to increase town centre living in Cheadle.  The report has also 

Page 20



considered opportunities to deliver community facilities that will help to attract 
and retain additional visitors to the town centre.  

7.19 Future decisions on Cheadle Hospital and the South Moorlands Leisure Centre 
provide options to consider delivering a new community hub building in the town 
centre to provide replacement health, well-being, leisure and other community 
facilities from a single location.  It is expected that such a new community hub, 
centrally located, would be a significant draw onto the High Street, providing 
spin-off benefits to other town centre shops and services.

7.20 The Options Appraisal has considered options for locating a new health hub, 
leisure centre and / or joint facility.  Potential locations considered are:

 Tape Street car park (either side of an extended and improved Greyhound 
Walk, (Options D and G) or, subject to site assembly and demolition, a 
combined facility fronting the High Street - Option H).

 Royal Walk – Option C – a wellness and leisure hub with outdoor sports 
provision such as tennis courts.

 South Moorlands Leisure Centre – Option C: re-providing a wellness and 
leisure hub on the existing site.

7.21 Analysis of these options led to the following conclusions:

 Locating a leisure and wellness building within a residential area will fail to 
introduce new use, footfall and associated vibrancy to the commercial heart 
of the town.  

 Should leisure services be re-provided on the existing site, there will be 
disruption and a period of time when no Leisure Centre will be available to 
residents.

 Residential development at South Moorlands Leisure Centre and Royal 
Walk could potentially cross fund delivery of a new hub facility in a more 
central location.

7.22 The report recommends that the preferred location for any community hub 
should be at Tape Street car park, bringing footfall and vibrancy into the town 
centre.

Risks and mitigation measures

7.23 It is important to note that in taking forward the recommendations set out in the 
emerging Masterplan for Cheadle town centre there are a number of risks for 
the Council to address.  These are considered below, along with proposed 
mitigation measures.

7.24 The report proposes new uses for both Tape Street and Well Street car parks.  
Whilst options for Tape Street retain some public car parking, it will be 
necessary to undertake a review of proposed parking provision in Cheadle to 

Page 21



ensure that residual parking provision is adequate to support all town centre 
uses.

7.25 The report proposes new uses for Cheadle Hospital.  Stoke-on-Trent and North 
Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group has announced proposals to close 
the Community Hospital and move to a new model of outpatient care provided 
by community hubs.  A date for the closure of Cheadle Hospital has yet to be 
announced.  Any wider consultation on options should be timed to take account 
of the CCG public information proposals.

7.26 The report proposes residential development on sites not allocated through the 
emerging SMDC Local Plan.  Whilst Local Plan proposals for Cheadle assume 
windfall delivery, any wider consultation on options should be timed to take 
account of the timetable for Local Plan adoption.

Next steps

7.27 The Options Appraisal report has highlighted short term opportunities for 
residential development at Well Street and Tape Street car parks.

7.28 At Tape Street car park there is a plot behind the Police Station that could deliver 
a small scheme of five new homes.  Demand is likely to be from a local house 
builder / developer rather than a volume housebuilder.

7.29 At Well Street car park there is an opportunity to engage with Your Housing 
Group to consider opportunities to bring forward an integrated development 
scheme across the car park and Lightwood sites.

7.30 In the medium and long term it may be possible to bring forward residential 
development at Royal Walk and the site of the existing Leisure Centre.  However 
this depends on the decisions to be taken about the wider future of the existing 
buildings on these sites.

7.31 The Council will set up a Project team to focus on the delivery of key sites in the 
emerging Masterplan, steering decision making about the best future use for 
the South Moorlands Leisure Centre and Tape Street and Well Street car parks.  
The project team would report to the Cheadle town centre Project Board, to 
ensure wider engagement and the capture of opportunities to enable co-location 
and expansion of GP and other community services in the town.

7.32 The collaboration of public sector partners in Cheadle to consider the most 
efficient use of their assets and opportunities to improve both service delivery 
and generate cost savings through co-location and integration supports taking 
a One Public Estate approach to delivery.  

Future High Street Fund Task Force for Cheadle

Page 22



7.33 In December 2019 Cheadle town centre was named as one of the first 14 pilot 
towns to receive bespoke expert advice and support from the MHCLG High 
Streets Task Force to build local capacity and expertise to help regenerate 
Cheadle high street.

7.34 The first step in the Task Force pilot project is an ‘Unlocking your place potential’ 
diagnostic visit. The visit will consist of:

 A review of desk-based research into the performance and perceptions of 
the town. 

 A three-hour meeting, with up to 10 key stakeholders from your area. This 
allows the Task Force time to examine plans, identify challenges and 
feedback on your Expression of Interest application to the Future High 
Street Fund and identify additional support that may be beneficial, from the 
High Streets Task Force.

 A 45 minute town/city centre site tour with a High Streets Task Force Expert 
who will conduct a snapshot analysis based on repositioning, reinventing, 
rebranding and restructuring approaches.

7.35 After the visit we will receive a visit report summarising the Expert’s findings – 
including their recommendation for the strategy that is likely to be most effective 
at “unlocking your place potential”.

7.36 It is expected the support provided through the ‘unlocking your place potential’ 
visit will assist in the development of an expression of interest for later rounds 
of the Future High Street Fund’ if appropriate.  

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Cheadle Town Centre Projects Governance Structure

Alliance Leadership Team

 Chief Executive
 Executive Director 

(Place)
 Executive Director 

(People)
 S.151 Officer   

 TOR

Staffordshire Moorlands 
Cabinet

Service Delivery
Select Committee

Transformation Board

 Alliance Leadership Team
 Alliance Management Team

Stakeholder Panel

 District Councillors – 
Cheadle West (Chair),
Cheadle South East,  
Cheadle North East

 Team Cheadle,
 SM Chamber of Commerce
 Cheadle Town Council
 Creative Cheadle
 Cheadle Historical Society
 Business Representative  
 Support Staffordshire·   

Destination Staffordshire
 Archdiocese of Birmingham 

(responsible for St. Giles)

TOR

Town Centre Project Delivery Board

 Executive Director (Place)
 Chair of Stakeholder Panel
 Staffordshire County Council 
 Clinical Commissioning Group

Supported by:
 Head of Regeneration 
 Head of Finance
 Head of Legal
 Project Manager

Project Delivery Group Project Delivery Group Project Delivery Group

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERATION OF CALL-INS
AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL MEETINGS

The Chair to introduce the 
report which will detail the 
reasons for the call-in and 
those Members who called 

in the decision.

The Members present at the 
meeting who signed the 

call-in be requested to give 
reasons for their call-in.

The Portfolio Holder to 
respond to those reasons.

All other Members of the 
Panel be invited to 

contribute to the debate.

The Chair to call for a vote on 
whether or not to refer back to 

Cabinet/relevant Portfolio Holder 
the decision for reconsideration.

Where the Panel decided 
(by a vote) not to refer back 

a decision to 
Cabinet/relevant portfolio 
holder for reconsideration, 
the Cabinet/ be asked to 
note or take account of 
concerns as it sees fit 
without holding up the 
implementation of the 

decision.

APPENDIX C

Where the Panel decided 
(by a vote) to refer back a 

decision to Cabinet/relevant 
portfolio holder for 

reconsideration, then the 
decision maker shall then 
reconsider within a further 

10 working days, amending 
the decision or not, before 
adopting a final decision.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Service Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
Work Programme 2020/21

Date Item Contact Officer
3 June 2020
MEETING CANCELLED Cheadle Town Centre Projects

Leek Market Hall Update
22 July 2020

COVID-19 Pandemic – Reinstatement of Services and Economic 
Recovery

S Porru/E Patterson

Leek Market Hall – Call-in Report S Porru
16 September 2020

COVID-19 Pandemic – Reinstatement of Services and Economic 
Recovery
Call-In of the Cabinet Decision to Dispose of Plot 12-15 Victoria 
Business Park

18 November 2020
AES Performance Update N Kemp
Call-in of Cabinet Report Cheadle Town Centre Projects S Porru

27 January 2021
Parkwood Annual Performance Report N Kemp
Leek Market Hall (update on appointment of consultants for options 
study and timetable for consultation)

S Porru

Cheadle High Street Task Force S Porru
Development of new Parking Strategy
Green Infrastructure Strategy S Porru

17 March 2021
Refreshed Sports & Physical Activity Strategy R Wilks
Staffordshire Moorlands Market Operations S Porru
Tunstall Rd strategic development area S Porru
Country Parks - Agreement – Wetley Moor Transfer to SWT N Kemp

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 9



TBC
Sports Village Project 
Fowlchurch Depot Review 
Waste and Recycling - TEEP Assessment 
Cheadle Town Centre Projects
Local Plan Adoption
Mills Masterplan
Leek Mills Options appraisal

P
age 30



Document is Restricted

Page 31

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting.
	8 Call-in of the Cabinet Report - Cheadle Town Centre Projects
	Appendix A  - Cabinet Report 6th October 2020 - Cheadle Town Centre Projects
	Appendix B - Cheadle Town Centre Projects Governance Structure
	Appendix C - Call-in Flow Chart

	9 Work Programme
	11 To Approve the Exempt Minutes of the Previous Meeting.

